UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-26-2014

State v. Taylor Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41888

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Brian Taylor conditionally pled guilty to four counts of lewd conduct, four counts of sexual abuse of child, and one count of exploitation of a child, preserving his right to challenge the district court's denial of his motion to suppress evidence. Mr. Taylor asserts that his statements, which lead officers to discover digital camera memory cards containing incriminating evidence, were the involuntary product of police coercion; therefore, the district court erred in denying his motion to suppress. Alternatively, Mr. Taylor asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing a total unified sentence of life, with 25 years fixed, in light of the relevant mitigating information present in his case.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

On May 21, 2013, 9-year-old S.A.R. disclosed to her school guidance counselor that her neighbor, Brian Taylor, had sexually abused her, had taken nude pictures of her, and had shown her pornographic pictures of herself and other children. (R., pp.28-31.) Based upon this information, police officers applied for and were granted a search warrant of Mr. Taylor's residence that same day. (Tr., pp.23-38.) The search of Mr. Taylor's trailer revealed a large amount of adult pornography and sex toys that the police did not seize as there was no information that such evidence would be relevant to their investigation. (R., pp.39-43.) In the days following that first search, S.A.R. disclosed that Mr. Taylor had penetrated her with a sex toy, and had shown her movies of "naked boys and girls' ... 'doing the same thing Brian was doing to me," (R., pp.39-43.) Police officers sought a second warrant based on S.A.R.'s new disclosure and

their claim that, although they had found a digital camera during the first search, they

did not believe it to be the camera that S.A.R. had described to them. (R., pp.39-43,

47.)

The second search warrant authorized officers to search for and seize the following list of items:

- Evidence of sexual activity including, without limitation, sexual devices, lubricants, condoms, and items that may contain bodily fluids associated with sexual activity.
- Images of adult pornography contained in magazines, DVD, and VHS format;
- Camera-capable devices;
- Indicia of residency in, or ownership or possession of, the premises and any of the above items.

(R., pp.80-81.) On June 10, 2013, a total of four Moscow Police Department officers went to Mr. Taylor's trailer to execute the second warrant. (See Exhibits A (affidavit if Sgt. Fager), B (affidavit of Det. Shields), and C (affidavit of Cpl.¹ Green))². Mr. Taylor was at work when the officers arrived to serve the warrant; however, he agreed to be present while the warrant was executed and picked up his 5-year-old son, M.N., from daycare on the way back to his home. (Exhibit C (affidavit of Cpl. Green)).

Detective Shields found a manual for a digital camera that was not seized during the execution of the first search warrant, and which he believed was consistent with the camera described by S.A.R. (Exhibit B (affidavit of Det. Shields)). After reading

¹ Although Casey Green refers to himself as a "Patrol Corporal" in his affidavit, he is referred to as Detective Green in other portions of the record; therefore, other than in citations to his affidavit, he will be referred to as Detective Green in this Brief.

² These affidavits were filed with State's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Suppress.

Mr. Taylor his *Miranda³* warnings and Mr. Taylor acknowledging that he remembered those warnings, the following exchange occurred:

Detective Shields: Okay. Question I have: Where's this camera? This is not the camera I tested. Where's that camera?

Brian Taylor: Uh -

Detective Shields: If you help me out, man, this is going to go a lot faster than if you don't. If not, I will be back there all night. I will tear that room apart from one square inch to the other.

Brian Taylor: Yeah.

Detective Shields: All right. This is not going to go well. I'm going to find this camera. Where is it at?

Brian Taylor: It is, um, in the same general area you found that stuff last in the bookshelf.

Detective Shields: Okay. It's in the bookshelf? Okay. Where at in the bookshelf?

Brian Taylor: Uh -

Detective Shields: Where the – where the plants were last time?

Brian Taylor: Yes.

Detective Shields: Appreciate it. Thank you.

(R., pp.193-194.) The officers found the camera where Mr. Taylor said that it would be located but there was no memory card or batteries in the camera. (Exhibit B (affidavit of Det. Shields)). Detective Shields then asked Mr. Taylor where the memory card was

³ See Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

and Mr. Taylor told him that he does not have any memory cards for that camera. (R., p.195.)

At some point after Mr. Taylor was confronted by Detective Shields, Detective Green asked him if he would be comfortable talking with him to which Mr. Taylor replied "Um, not really." (R., p.196.) Mr. Taylor stated to Detective Green "anything I say can and will be used against me," and Detective Green responded by saying, "Yeah, that's – that's the auspice of why we're here, yes." *Id.* Mr. Taylor then asked, "So what does that mean exactly?" and Detective Green responded with "It means exactly what it means, Brian. You know, we're and officer of the law, and an officer of the Court, you know ... But I would like to speak to you, if it's okay with you" and Mr. Taylor responded "Okay." (R., pp.196-197.) Mr. Taylor then agreed that M.N. could go outside with another officer while he spoke with Detective Green. (R., p.197.)

Detective Green told Mr. Taylor that he knows he's "in a bad spot" but that they are trying to "close up the loose ends," he is concerned that things on the memory card will be made public and harm S.A.R., and he knows Mr. Taylor is a good father to M.N. and that he would not want S.A.R. to be harmed. (R., pp.198-205.) Mr. Taylor repeatedly said that the camera does not have a memory card and that no harmful images of S.A.R. could possibly be made public. *Id.* Detective Green then told Mr. Taylor that he was speaking to him "one man to another man" and told him that he could arrest him for methamphetamine possession⁴ but he did not want to do that

⁴ Methamphetamine was found in the trailer during the execution of the first warrant but Mr. Taylor was not arrested at that time. (See Exhibits A (affidavit if Sgt. Fager), B (affidavit of Det. Shields), and C (affidavit of Cpl. Green)).

because he wants Mr. Taylor to be there for M.N. (R., p.205.) Mr. Taylor then stated that he destroyed the memory card, threw it in the trash, and it should be in a landfill by then. (R., pp.205-207.)

Detective Green told Mr. Taylor that he had "too much respect for [him] right now to accept a lie from [him]" and Mr. Taylor asked if the judge would "look at that information." (R., pp.207-208.) Detective Green told Mr. Taylor that he possibly has an addiction to pornography and that taking responsibility for that is "an admirable thing to do," but that he was concerned about the images coming back to harm S.A.R. (R., pp.208-209.) Mr. Taylor answered "Of course" when Detective Green asked him if he wanted to protect S.A.R. (R., p.209.) Mr. Taylor then stated, "I'm going to be arrested, today not matter what, though" and Detective Green told him that it had not been decided at that point. (R., pp.209-210.) Mr. Taylor asked what would happen if the police did not believe his statement that "they have been destroyed," and Detective Green responded that he did not believe him and provided a hypothetical in which he arrested Mr. Taylor, M.N. was taken in to protective custody, and someone broke into the trailer and found the memory card. (R., pp.210-211.)

Mr. Taylor then disclosed that the evidence was in the trailer and, after he discussed how he could get help for his pornography addiction, he informed Detective Green that two memory cards were hidden in a bag of rice in his kitchen and the officers seized the cards. (R., pp.211-215.) The officers then returned to the police station and discovered the memory cards contained multiple images of child pornography including images Mr. Taylor engaged in sexual contact with S.A.R., M.N. and a 9-year-old boy,

R.R. (Exhibit B (affidavit of Det. Shields)). The officers returned to Mr. Taylor's residence and arrested him. *Id.*

The State filed an Amended Criminal Information charging Mr. Taylor with seven counts of sexual abuse of a child, seven counts of lewd conduct, seven counts of male rape, one count of rape, two counts of sexual exploitation of a child, and one count of possession of methamphetamine. (R., pp.163-173.) The various sex-crimes listed were alleged to have been committed against four separate victims. *Id.*

Mr. Taylor filed a Motion to Suppress the evidence obtained as a result of his interrogation occurring during the execution of the second search warrant on June 10, 2013, including statements he made, the memory cards found in the bag of rice, and any further evidence resulting from follow up investigations, and Mr. Taylor supported his motion with a memorandum in support and with a transcript of his contact with law enforcement during the service of the second search warrant. (R., pp.197-218.) Specifically, Mr. Taylor argued that he was "in custody" during the interrogation, and that his statements were not voluntarily given but were the product of unlawful police coercion in violation of his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process of law, or were otherwise obtained in violation of his right to silence protected by the Fifth Amendment. *Id.* Mr. Taylor argued,

The circumstances of the interrogation were as follows: four policemen were in his home armed with a search warrant. Officer Shields had told the Defendant that if he did not divulge the location of a camera, they would stay all night and he would "tear that room apart from one square inch to the other." Although the Defendant then gave up the camera as demanded, police pressed for more damaging information, even though it was not specifically named on the search warrant. They were quite clear in their demands, and the Defendant had tried to express that he did not want to cooperate. However, he also had his five year old son there, and no one was there to care for the son. He obviously would

not want the house torn up "from one square inch into the other" in front of his young son. Furthermore, the Defendant knew that he was going to be arrested that day, not matter what. Green tried to dissuade him from that conclusion, but the Defendant has the insight of a reasonable person – he knew he was going to be arrested.

(R., pp.184-185.) Mr. Taylor asserted that the "circumstances of the questioning were overbearing, and the Defendant responded as a result of the previous threat to 'tear up' his home." (R., p.186.) He asserted that his confession was made in response "to a threat, knowing he would be arrested and feeling protective of both his home and his son"; therefore, it his incriminating statements were coerced and involuntary. *Id.*

The State filed a memorandum opposing Mr. Taylor's motion to suppress and argued the following: Mr. Taylor failed to show that he was "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes; that even if he was in custody, he was informed of his *Miranda* rights multiple times before questioning; he did not unequivocally invoke his right to remain silent; sufficient time had elapsed between the execution of the first search warrant on May 21st, and the execution of the second search warrant on June 10th, that the officers could reinitiate questioning; and, under the totality of the circumstances, his statements were voluntary. (R., pp.240-265.) The court held a hearing on Mr. Taylor's motion to suppress and the parties submitted the issue for the court's consideration on the transcript of Mr. Taylor's interrogations by Detectives Shields and Green during the execution of the second search warrant, an audio recording of Detective Shields, and Detective Green, but Mr. Taylor did not testify. (Tr. 10/30/13.)

The district court denied Mr. Taylor's motion to suppress through a written Opinion and Order on Defendant's Motion to Suppress. (R., pp.271-280.) The district

court found that there was no evidence showing that Mr. Taylor was uneducated or unintelligent, that the detention⁵ was of any significant length, that the questioning was prolonged or repetitive, or that Mr. Taylor was deprived of sleep or food. (R., pp.277-278.) The district court recognized that Mr. Taylor argued that the police coerced an involuntary confession out of him by the fact that there were four officers present armed with a search warrant, that M.N. was in the home at the time, that Mr. Taylor was not free to leave, and that the officers told him "they would search every inch of [his] home if he did not tell them where the camera and memory card were located." (R., p.278.) The court then found as follows:

While Defendant Taylor's facts are accurate, his inferences are flawed. The officers had a search warrant (a somewhat coercive instrument in its own right) that allowed them to enter Taylor's home and to thoroughly search for certain named items, including every inch of the home if necessary. Simply informing Taylor of the right they held pursuant to the search warrant, but giving him the option to avoid such an intrusive event, is not a threat. Even assuming some of the statements made by the interrogating officers were inaccurate or false, deceptive police tactics alone do not necessarily render a confession involuntary. Defendant Taylor has failed to direct the Court to any statements made by the interrogating officers that were so false or misleading that the statements overcame the Defendant's will.

(R., p.278 (footnote omitted).) The court further found that Mr. Taylor did not unequivocally evoke his right to remain silent and, therefore, officers were not required to discontinue questioning him.⁶ (R., p.279.) The court concluded that Mr. Taylor's

⁵ The district court that Mr. Taylor was "in custody" during the questioning that occurred during the execution of the second search warrant, and that a reasonable period of time had passed between the time the first search warrant was executed, where Mr. Taylor exercised his right to silence, and the time the second search warrant was executed, allowing the police to reinitiate questioning. (R., pp.275-277.) Mr. Taylor does not challenge either of these findings in this appeal.

⁶ Mr. Taylor does not challenge this finding in this appeal.

confession about the location of the memory cards was voluntary and there was no violation of his constitutional rights. (R., p.279.)

Thereafter, Mr. Taylor entered a conditional guilty plea to four counts of lewd conduct, four counts of sexual abuse of a child, and one count of sexual exploitation of a child as charged in a Second Amended Information, preserving his right to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress. (R., pp.281-294; Tr. 11/13/13.) The district court sentenced Mr. Taylor to a total unified term of life, with 25 years fixed. (R., pp.336-340.) Mr. Taylor filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (R., pp.343-346.)

ISSUES

- 1. Did the district court err when it denied Mr. Taylor's motion to suppress?
- 2. Did the district court abuse its discretion by imposing upon Mr. Taylor a total unified sentence of life, with 25 years fixed, in light of the mitigating information?

ARGUMENT

1.

The District Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Taylor's Motion To Suppress

A. <u>Introduction</u>

The district court based its legal ruling that Mr. Taylor's incriminating statements were voluntary, upon the factual finding that the police officers were truthful when they told him they could tear his home apart to look for the memory card(s). This finding is clearly erroneous as, while the search warrant allowed officers to search for and seize "Camera-capable devices," the warrant did not allow for the search and seizure of memory cards or any other means of storing digital images. In light of the court's finding that officers actually did threaten to tear apart Mr. Taylor's apartment in a search of the memory card(s), Mr. Taylor's confession as to the location of the memory cards was the involuntary acquiescence to unlawful police coercion, and the district court erred in denying Mr. Taylor's motion to suppress.

B. Relevant Jurisprudence And Standard Of Review

The United States Supreme Court "has long held that certain interrogation techniques, either in isolation or as applied to the unique characteristics of a particular suspect, are so offensive to a civilized system of justice that they must be condemned under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment." *Miller v. Fenton*, 474 U.S. 104, 109 (1985) (citing *Brown v. Mississipi*, 297 U.S. 278 (1936)). Confessions that are secured through constitutionally invalid means are described as "involuntary." *Id.* (citing *Blackburn v. Alabama*, 361 U.S. 199, 207 (1960)). "The doctrine disallowing

the use of involuntary confessions ... is grounded in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, and it applies to any confession that was the product of police coercion, either physical or psychological, or that was otherwise obtained by methods offensive to due process." *State v. Doe*, 130 Idaho 811, 814-815 (citing *Miller, supra; Oregon v. Elstad,* 470 U.S. 298, 304 (1985); *Haynes v. Washington,* 373 U.S. 503, 514–515 (1963)). "[C]oercion can be mental as well as physical, and that the blood of the accused is not the only hallmark of an unconstitutional inquisition." *Blackburn* 361 U.S. at 206 (citing *Chambers v. Florida,* 309 U.S. 227 (1940)).

The proper inquiry is to determine, from the totality of the circumstances, whether the incriminating statements were the product of the defendant's will being overborne by police coercion. *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 285-288 (1991). Factors courts should consider include, but are not limited to, whether *Miranda* warnings were given, the defendant's age, level of education and intelligence, the length of the detention, the repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning, and deprivation of food and sleep. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973); *see also State v. Troy*, 124 Idaho 211, 214 (1993). Additionally, a single tactic such as the use or threatened use of violence can be, in and of itself, coercive and render a confession involuntary, regardless of the presence of other non-coercive factors. *See Brown v. State of Mississippi*, 297 U.S. 278 (1936); *Chambers v. Florida*, 309 U.S. 227 (1940).

The standard of review of a suppression motion is bifurcated. When a decision on a motion to suppress is challenged, the appellate court accepts the trial court's findings of fact which were supported by substantial evidence, but freely reviews the application of constitutional principles to the facts as found. *State v. Atkinson*, 128 Idaho

559, 561 (Ct. App. 1996). The ultimate question of whether a confession was involuntary is a legal question subject to *de novo* review. *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 287.

C. <u>The District Court's Finding That The Officers Could Tear Up Mr. Taylor's Home</u> In Order To Find The Memory Cards Is Clearly Erroneous

The district court recognized that Mr. Taylor asserted police overcame his will by the use of threats. (R., p.278.) The court recognized,

Defendant Taylor argues there were four police officers in his home armed with a search warrant, Taylor's five-year-old son was present in the home, Taylor was not free to leave, and the officers threatened him by stating they would search every inch of Taylor's home if he did not tell them where the camera and memory card were located.

(R., p.278 (emphasis added).) The court found that these facts are accurate (R., p.278), and Mr. Taylor does not challenge these factual findings in this appeal. However, the court also found, "[t]he officers had a search warrant ... that allowed them to enter Taylor's home and to thoroughly search for certain named items, including every inch of the home if necessary." (R., p.278.) This particular factual finding is clearly erroneous.

The warrant authorized the officers to search for "camera-capable devices" but it did not authorize the search for memory cards or any other means of storing digital images. (R., p.80.) Memory cards are not a "camera-capable devices" – they have no ability to take a picture. In contrast, the first search warrant authorized the search and seizure of "any and all property used to **create**, receive, **store**, transmit images related to child pornography." (Tr. 10/30/13, p.22, L.24 – p.23, L.3.) Unlike the second warrant, the first warrant authorized the search and seizure of items that can "create" images, i.e., camera-capable devices, **and** items that can "store" images, i.e., memory cards.

Therefore, the court's factual finding that, on June 10, 2013, the officers had a warrant authorizing their ability to search the trailer for a memory card is clearly erroneous.

D. <u>The Court's Legal Conclusion That The Officers Did Not Threaten Mr. Taylor</u> <u>Based Upon Their Claim That They Were Legally Authorized To Search For The</u> <u>Memory Cards Is Legally Incorrect</u>

The Court found that, "[s]imply informing Taylor of the right they held pursuant to the search warrant, but giving him the option to avoid such an intrusive event, is not a threat." (R., p.278.) Due to the fact that the warrant did not authorize the search and seizure of memory cards, the district court's legal conclusion is incorrect.

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