## Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-18-2014

### State v. Taylor Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41888

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

Brian Kenneth Taylor appeals from the judgment of conviction entered upon his conditional guilty pleas to four counts of sex abuse, four counts of lewd conduct with a minor, and one count of sexual exploitation of a child. Taylor contends the district court erred in denying his motion to suppress, and abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence.

#### Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

Nine-year-old S.R. disclosed to her school psychologist, and later the police, that her neighbor, Brian Taylor, sexually abused her. (PSI, pp.3-4; PSI attachments, pp.8-12.) S.R. reported that on several occasions, Taylor removed her pants and underwear and touched her buttocks and vaginal area with his hands and mouth. (PSI, p.3; PSI attachments, pp.10-12.) S.R. told officers that Taylor recorded some of this abuse on a silver camera with a sliding cover, and that Taylor showed her photos of his abuse of both her and another child, R.R. (PSI, pp.3-4; PSI attachments, pp.10-12.)

Later that day, officers contacted Taylor at his home. (State's Exhibit C, p.14.<sup>1</sup>) Taylor acknowledged that S.R. often came to his residence to play with his son, but denied any inappropriate conduct. (State's Exhibit C, pp.14-18.) Eventually, officers informed Taylor of his Miranda<sup>2</sup> rights and told him that they

<sup>1</sup> References to page numbers of exhibits refer to the page numbers located on the bottom right-hand corner of those exhibits, regardless of whether those numbers are in sequential order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

were going to "freeze the scene" and apply for a search warrant. (State's Exhibit C, p.18.) Taylor declined to speak with the officers further. (Id.)

Officers then sought and obtained a warrant to search Taylor's residence for evidence relating to the production and storage of child pornography, including computers, hard drives, cameras, memory cards, videos, photos, etc.; evidence of correspondence between Taylor and S.R.; evidence of sexual activity; and indicia of ownership of the seized evidence. (PSI, p.4; R., Vol. I, pp.90-91.)

Upon execution of the warrant, officers seized a cell phone that contained a photo of the vaginal area of pre-pubescent female, as well as a computer, a camera, and several compact flash storage cards. (State's Exhibit B, pp.251-252.) Officers also seized a small bindle containing methamphetamine, and various paraphernalia commonly associated with smoking methamphetamine. (State's Exhibit B, p.252.) Officers found, but did not seize, large amounts of adult pornography and sexual aids and toys. (State's Exhibit A, p.26.) Officers did not locate the camera described by S.R. (State's Exhibit B, pp.251-252.) Taylor was not arrested at this time.

In a subsequent interview, S.R. disclosed that Taylor had showed her pornography and had abused her with various sex toys. (PSI, p.5; R., Vol. I, pp.41-43.) Based upon this information, and the fact that officers had not yet recovered the camera described by S.R., officers applied for and obtained a second warrant authorizing them to search for and seize:

• "Evidence of sexual activity including, without limitation, sexual devices, lubricants, condoms, and items that may

contain bodily fluids associated with sexual activity.

- Images of adult pornography contained in magazines, DVD, and VHS format;
- Camera-capable devices;
- Indicia of residency in, or ownership or possession of, the premises and any of the above items."

(R., Vol. I, pp.41-43, 80-81; State's Exhibit C, p.39.)

Approximately twenty days after they executed the first warrant, officers returned to the home to execute the second warrant. (State's Exhibit A, p.33.) Taylor voluntarily returned home from his place of employment and let the officers into the residence. (Id.) Officers seized numerous sex toys, including one previously described by S.R., pornographic videos and magazines, and a manual for a camera consistent with the one described by S.R. (State's Exhibit A, pp.33-36.)

Officers then read Taylor his Miranda rights, and questioned him about the location of the camera depicted in the manual and described by S.R. (State's Exhibit A, p.34; Defendant's Exhibit A, p.2.) Detective Bill Shields told Taylor that officers would be there "all night" and would "tear that room apart from one square inch to the other" to find the camera. (Defendant's Exhibit A, p.2.) Taylor then told the officers the location of the camera, and the officers seized it. (State's Exhibit A, p.34.) Detective Shields examined the camera and noted that its memory card had been removed. (State's Exhibit B, pp.289-290.) Detective Shields also noted that the camera was an older model that utilized a now-obsolete XD style of memory card. (Id.)

Officers questioned Taylor about the location of the missing memory card. (Id.) Though initially reluctant to reveal this information, Taylor eventually did so after the officers told him that by refusing to comply, Taylor ran of the risk of further victimizing S.R., should any explicit photos of her get out into the public. (State's Exhibit A, p.34; State's Exhibit C, pp.40-41; Defendant's Exhibit A, pp.7-23) The officers recovered two XD memory cards where Taylor said they would be, inside a bag of rice in the kitchen. (State's Exhibit A, p.34.) After verifying that the memory cards fit the camera previously seized, officers seized the cards. (State's Exhibit A, p.34; State's Exhibit B, pp.289-290.)

Officers returned to the police station to examine the contents of the XD memory cards. (State's Exhibit B, pp.290-291.) The cards contained more than 200 photos, nearly all of which depicted Taylor sexually abusing S.R., R.R., and M.N., Taylor's five-year-old son. (PSI attachments, pp.297-298; State's Exhibit C, pp.42-44.) Officers then arrested Taylor. (State's Exhibit B, p.291.) Officers later identified a fourth victim, R.R.'s brother Z.R. (PSI, pp.5-6.) In subsequent interviews, R.R., Z.R., and M.N. all disclosed that Taylor had sexually abused them. (PSI, pp.5-6; PSI attachments pp.343-394.)

The state ultimately charged Taylor with seven counts of sex abuse, seven counts of lewd conduct with a minor, seven counts of male rape, two counts of sexual exploitation of a child, and single counts of rape and possession of methamphetamine. (R., Vol. I, pp.163-173.)

Taylor moved to suppress his statements made during the officers' execution of the second search warrant, and all evidence subsequently seized

under the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine. (R., Vol. II, pp.179-218.) Taylor argued: (1) the officers executing the second search warrant violated Taylor's Miranda rights by attempting to interrogate him after Taylor had previously asserted his right to remain silent several weeks earlier; and (2) even if the Miranda rights given during the execution of the second search warrant were effective, Taylor's statements and the evidence subsequently seized should still be suppressed because the statements were coerced and involuntary. (Id.) After a hearing at which a transcript of the interrogation and affidavits from the officers were admitted as exhibits (10/10/13 Tr., p.4, L.9 – p.33, L.3), the district court denied the motion, concluding that the officers did not violate Taylor's Miranda rights, and that Taylor's statements made during the execution of the second search warrant were voluntary and not coerced (R., Vol. II, pp.271-280).

The state and Taylor then entered into a conditional plea agreement in which Taylor preserved his right to appeal the district court's denial of his motion to suppress, and to withdraw his pleas should he be successful on appeal. (R., Vol. II, pp.281-283.) Pursuant to that agreement, Taylor pled guilty to four counts of sex abuse, four counts of lewd conduct with a minor, and one count of sexual exploitation of a child. (Id.; 11/13/13 Tr., p.7, L.12 – p.25, L.5.) There was no agreement with regard to the parties' sentencing recommendations. (R., Vol. II, pp.281-233; 11/13/13 Tr., p.7, Ls.19-21.)

The district court imposed concurrent unified life sentences, with ten years fixed, for each charge of lewd conduct with a minor; a consecutive five years fixed for sexual exploitation of a child; and 10 years fixed for each charge of sex

abuse, to run concurrently with each other but consecutively to the other charges. (R., Vol. II, pp.336-342; 2/4/14 Tr., p.83, L.22 - p.94, L.16.) This resulted in a cumulative unified life sentence with 25 years fixed. Taylor timely appealed. (R., Vol. II, pp.343-346.)

#### <u>ISSUES</u>

Taylor states the issues on appeal as:

- 1. Did the district court err when it denied Mr. Taylor's motion to suppress?
- 2. Did the district court abuse its discretion by imposing upon Mr. Taylor a total unified sentence of life, with 25 years fixed, in light of the mitigating information?

(Appellant's brief, p.10)

The state rephrases the issues on appeal as:

- 1. Has Taylor failed to show the district court erred in denying his motion to suppress?
- 2. Has Taylor failed to show that the district court imposed an excessive sentence?

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1

## Taylor Has Failed To Show The District Court Erred In Denying His Motion To Suppress

#### A. Introduction

Taylor contends that the district court erred in denying his motion to suppress statements he made during the execution of the second search warrant, as well as evidence subsequently seized, pursuant to the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine. (Appellant's brief, pp.11-15.) Specifically, Taylor argues that that the district court erred in concluding that his statements were voluntary and not coerced. (Id.) A review of the record reveals that the officers' interrogation techniques, while persuasive, did not constitute unconstitutional coercion.

#### B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

The standard of review of a suppression motion is bifurcated. When a decision on a motion to suppress is challenged, the appellate court accepts the trial court's findings of fact that are supported by substantial evidence, but freely reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts. State v. Klingler, 143 Idaho 494, 496, 148 P.3d 1240, 1242 (2006). Thus, where an appellant claims his statements were involuntary, this Court gives "deference to the lower court's findings of fact, if they are not clearly erroneous," but engages in "free review over the question of whether the facts found are constitutionally sufficient to show voluntariness." State v. Wilson, 126 Idaho 926, 928, 894 P.2d 159, 161 (Ct. App. 1995). The "ultimate determination of voluntariness" is a legal

question freely reviewed. Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 287 (1991).

## C. <u>The District Court Correctly Concluded That Taylor's Statements Were Voluntary</u>

"[C]oercive police activity is a necessary predicate to the finding that a confession is not 'voluntary' within the meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment." Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 167 (1986). Indeed, "coercive government misconduct was the catalyst for th[e] [Supreme] Court's seminal confession case, Brown v. Mississippi," 297 U.S. 278 (1936), and "the cases considered by th[e] Court" post-Brown "have focused upon the crucial element of police overreaching." Connelly, 479 U.S. at 163-164. "While each confession case has turned on its own set of factors justifying the conclusion that police conduct was oppressive, all have contained a substantial element of coercive police conduct." Id. at 164. "Absent police conduct causally related to the confession, there is simply no basis for concluding that any state actor has deprived a criminal defendant of due process of law." Id.; see also State v. Valero, 153 Idaho 910, 912, 285 P.3d 1014, 1016 (Ct. App. 2012) ("In order to find a violation of a defendant's due process rights by virtue of an involuntary confession, coercive police conduct is necessary.").

"The proper inquiry is to look to the totality of the circumstances and then ask whether the defendant's will was overborne by the police conduct." <u>State v. Stone</u>, 154 Idaho 949, 953, 303 P.3d 636, 640 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing <u>Arizona v. Fulminante</u>, 499 U.S. 279, 287 (1991); <u>State v. Troy</u>, 124 Idaho 211, 214, 858 P.2d 750, 753 (1993)). Relevant factors to consider in determining whether a

defendant's statements are voluntary include whether <u>Miranda</u> warnings were given, the defendant's age, education, and intelligence, the length of detention, the repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning, and the use of physical punishment such as the deprivation of food or sleep. <u>Schneckloth v. Bustamonte</u>, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973) (internal citations omitted); <u>Stone</u>, 154 Idaho at 953, 303 P.3d at 640 (Idaho Court of Appeals utilizing the <u>Bustamonte</u> factors). Importantly, the absence or presence of any one factor is not determinative. Id.

The exclusionary rule calls for suppression of evidence that is gained through unconstitutional governmental activity. Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796, 815 (1984); State v. Wigginton, 142 Idaho 180, 184, 125 P.3d 536, 540 (Ct. App. 2005). This prohibition against the use of derivative evidence extends to the indirect as well as the direct fruit of the government's misconduct. Segura, 468 U.S. at 804; Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 484 (1963). Nevertheless, "[s]uppression is not justified unless 'the challenged evidence is in some sense the product of illegal governmental activity." Segura, 468 U.S. at 815 (quoting United States v. Crews, 445 U.S. 463, 471 (1980)). That is, "evidence will not be excluded as 'fruit' unless the illegality is at least the 'but for'

cause of the discovery of the evidence." Id.3

In this case, the district court denied Taylor's motion to suppress, concluding that his statements made during the execution of the second search warrant were voluntary and not coerced. (R., Vol. II, pp.271-280.) Specifically, the court concluded: (1) application of the relevant Bustamonte factors indicated that the interrogation was not unconstitutionally coercive; (2) a review of the totality of the circumstances further demonstrated that Taylor's statements were voluntary; and (3) the officers' "threats" to search the home if Taylor did not cooperate were supported by the search warrant, which authorized the officers to conduct such a search.<sup>4</sup> (ld.) A review of the record and of the applicable law supports the district court's rulings Specifically: the officers' interrogation techniques, while persuasive, did not render Taylor's statements involuntary pursuant to the relevant Bustamonte factors and a totality of the circumstances analysis; and the second search warrant authorized the officers to search for and seize both the camera and the memory cards, and even if it did not, any contrary implication made by the officers to Taylor did not render Taylor's statements

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Because it denied Taylor's motion to suppress statements made during the execution of the second search warrant, the district court did not address Taylor's argument that the physical evidence subsequently seized by officers should be suppressed pursuant to the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine. Should this Court find that the district court erred in denying Taylor's motion to suppress his statements, it should remand the case for a determination of whether and which portions of the seized physical evidence should also be suppressed. Such a determination may require additional findings of fact, such as whether any of the seized evidence may be subject to the inevitable discovery doctrine.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> On appeal, Taylor does not challenge the district court's conclusion that he failed to show that the officers violated his <u>Miranda</u> rights. (Appellant's brief, p.8, n. 5, 6.)

involuntary.

 Application Of The Bustamonte Factors And An Analysis Of The Totality Of The Circumstances Supports the District Court's Determination

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